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It could be the savory hot 
dog you ate during your last
visit to the ballpark, or that
marinated pork tenderloin at
your cousin’s wedding, or
maybe the bacon sizzling in
your kitchen on a brisk
Sunday morning.

The odds are high that at
least one—maybe all—are
made by Smithfield Foods,
the largest pork producer
and processor in the world.
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Our assortment of branded
and private label products
are favorites at the grocery
store, deli counter, and a
wide variety of eateries
throughout North America
and beyond.

Turn the page to learn more
about why we’re so confident
when we say…

…chances are it’s Smithfield.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

FISCAL YEARS ENDED (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999 MAY 3, 1998

Sales $5,150,469 $3,774,989 $3,867,442
Net Income 75,112 94,884 53,400
Net Income Per Diluted Common Share 1.52 2.32 1.34
Weighted Average Diluted Shares Outstanding 49,386 40,962 39,732

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Capital Expenditures $ 100,383 $ 95,447 $ 92,913
Depreciation Expense 109,893 63,524 42,300
Working Capital 609,857 215,865 259,188
Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations 1,187,770 594,241 407,272
Shareholders’ Equity 902,909 542,246 361,010
EBITDA 310,895 252,525 158,725
Book Value Per Common Share 16.41 12.93 9.66
Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity 10.4% 21.0% 16.0%
CONTENTS 3 To Our Shareholders
6 Chances Are It’s Smithfield
8 Financial Snapshot

12 A Family of Companies
28 Financials
2



TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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I am pleased to report that Smithfield Foods, Inc.
reported net income of $75 million, or $1.52 per dilut-
ed share, for the year ended April 30, 2000. While we
are disappointed that these earnings are down from
the record earnings reported last fiscal year, they still
represent the second-best performance in our history;
second only to last year when hog prices reached their
lowest level in five decades. These unprecedented low
prices resulted in very favorable fresh pork margins 
for a substantial portion of fiscal 1999 and were the
driving force behind last year’s results.

We knew that equaling last year’s earnings would be
difficult. However, we thought that Smithfield could
meet this challenge if hog prices again declined in the
fall. Events did not play out as we expected, and hog
prices firmed up as the fiscal year progressed. This
chain of events squeezed fresh pork margins and
detracted from the year-over-year comparison for
much of the year. 

Joseph W. Luter, III In addition, our Animex S.A. subsidiary in Poland, which we acquired in April 1999,
incurred losses that adversely affected earnings. However, we fully anticipated 
these losses from the outset and consider our total Animex investment as an
opportunity for the future. 

While margins and profitability in our meat processing operations were adversely
affected by rising hog prices, they moved in just the opposite direction in our hog
raising operations. The acquisition of Carroll’s Foods at the very beginning of 
fiscal 2000 and Murphy Family Farms this past January provided us with a large
production operation to mitigate much of the impact from declining meat
processing margins. The result was a year of profitability that demonstrated some 
of the benefits we have strived to achieve through vertical integration. I will say
more about that presently.

Over the past two years, we have solidified and broadened the very foundation of this
Company. Smithfield Foods has purchased or made investments in 12 companies
during this period—many outside the United States. These acquisitions played a
significant role in our 36 percent revenue growth, to $5.2 billion. Moreover, we
believe that these acquisitions position us well for the future, presenting valuable
opportunities for continued growth.

ESTABLISHING A Smithfield Foods’ hog raising business doubled in size with the acquisition of 
MAJOR BASE Carroll’s Foods in May 1999. These operations doubled again this past January 
IN HOG RAISING when we bought Murphy Family Farms. Through these two acquisitions and our

existing Brown’s of Carolina operations, Smithfield Foods now owns approximately
700,000 sows—four times the number of our nearest competitor. This sow base,
combined with our many contracting and raising arrangements, gives us the capacity
3

to produce nearly 12 million hogs on an annual basis. Moreover, we made these 
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acquisitions at the very bottom of the hog cycle, allowing us to acquire assets at a
substantial discount to replacement cost. As a result, we have created a hog raising
complex with a highly advantageous cost structure and a seasoned and mature 
management team—a feat that no other company, we believe, can duplicate given
the environmental, regulatory and political climate surrounding hog farming today.

Smithfield Foods now owns roughly 50 percent of the hogs we slaughter and raises
additional hogs, which we do not process, that are marketed under long-term con-
tracts to other companies. We realize a number of benefits by vertically controlling
such a substantial portion of our raw materials. By controlling half our hog supply,
our processing operations are ensured of a consistent, high-quality source of raw
materials for many of the Company’s fresh and processed meat products.

In addition, this vertical integration should provide a more predictable earnings
stream because Smithfield Foods is now insulated from much of the cyclicality
common to our business. Generally, pork processors make more money when hog
prices are low—as witnessed in fiscal 1999—and processing margins decline when
hog prices rise. By participating in both ends of the business, we remove many of
those peaks and valleys. In addition, productivity should climb as these formerly
independent hog raising companies, all based within 25 miles of one another in
North Carolina, pool their management talent and other resources to control costs
and maximize efficiencies.

EXPANDING SALES OF Turning to the processing side of our business, all our North American companies 
FRESH PORK AND enjoyed profitability in fiscal 2000 with the lone exception of Lykes. We are already 
PROCESSED MEATS: well on our way towards turning Lykes around by pooling its manufacturing and 
A TWIN STRATEGY marketing operations with those of Smithfield Packing.
FOR SUCCESS

Branded fresh pork products continued to perform strongly, with U.S. sales of our
hugely successful Smithfield Lean Generation Pork™ climbing 10 percent to over 
90 million pounds annually and sales of Golden Delicious and other brands for the
Japanese market up a combined 20 percent. Our moisture-enhanced brands—
Smithfield Packing’s Tender ’n Easy, John Morrell’s Tender N Juicy and Gwaltney of
Smithfield’s Tender Perfection—also enjoyed solid growth.

Our branded fresh pork products play a significant role in our move to supply case-
ready pork to Wal-Mart and some of the nation’s other largest retailers. Case-ready
volumes more than doubled this past year, and we are excited about its growing
acceptance at the retail level. You can read more about the case-ready revolution on
pages 24–25, but let me say here that case-ready is doing nothing short of changing
the way fresh pork is marketed today. I believe that this change will allow Smithfield
Foods to build brand recognition among consumers for fresh pork in a way that just
hasn’t been possible in the past.

I am particularly pleased with our growth in processed meats over the past year,
where tonnage increased by 37 percent. Our domestic companies posted solid 
volume gains, and to their numbers we added the volume from several international
acquisitions. These include Schneider Corporation, Canada’s leading brand and 
second-largest pork processor; Animex; and France’s Société Bretonne de Salaisons
(SBS) and Société Financière de Gestion et de Participation (SFGP). These compa-
nies, together with our joint venture in Mexico—Agroindustrial del Noroeste—will
play an important role in our long-term strategy for international growth, discussed
4

in more detail on pages 20–24.
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Continued volume gains in processed meats are helping to further one of our
most important goals: creating a balance between fresh and processed meats that
maximizes the value from all of our cuts. As part of this strategy, John Morrell &
Co. will devote a significant portion of its recently acquired plant in Dubuque,
Iowa, to processed meats. Additionally, Gwaltney’s March 2000 acquisition of
Coddle Roasted Meats further enhances our processed meats base and has 
created new opportunities for Smithfield Foods in the rapidly growing precooked
meats business.

AN INDUSTRY LEADER I have always taken the long-term view in building this Company, and as a 
IN SHAREHOLDER VALUE result, our investors have been handsomely rewarded. Looking at the Fortune

500 rankings covering the period 1989–1999, Smithfield Foods was the best-
performing food stock in total return to shareholders; in fact, our total return to
investors placed us among the top 15 percent of all Fortune 500 companies.
During the same period, our earnings-per-share growth landed us among the
Fortune 500’s top 7 percent. These returns were accomplished in an industry
thought to be mature, unexciting and difficult to grow.

As a natural outgrowth of our evolving corporate presence and to improve
visibility in the U.S. and overseas investment communities, we moved this past
year from The Nasdaq National Market to The New York Stock Exchange. In
addition, we restructured our board to include a majority of outside, independent
directors to enhance our appeal to many investors. As you are no doubt aware, our
stock and food stocks in general have been out of favor as investors flocked to the
technology sector, where past performance and fundamentals have largely been
ignored. We took advantage of this opportunity to repurchase 3 million of our
shares at attractive prices during the year. We will continue to monitor the market
and buy back shares when our strategy is not appreciated and we believe the 
stock is undervalued.

I cannot close without mentioning our Internet strategy at least once. Although
Smithfield Foods hardly sees itself jumping on the dot-com express train, we
certainly recognize the value of this exciting medium and the ability it provides to
take costs out of the system. That is why we have partnered with other leaders in
the protein industry to develop the world’s largest business-to-business Web site
for meat and poultry. 

Looking forward to fiscal 2001, we will devote our energies toward integrating our
recent acquisitions into the Smithfield Foods family and extracting the synergies
that exist among our subsidiaries. We believe that there is still significant earnings
potential waiting to be unlocked through closer cooperation among our family of
companies. I am very optimistic that we can look forward to record earnings in
fiscal 2001, given our increased scale, the impact of 12 million hogs, and continued
strong performance in value-added fresh pork and processed meats. 

Thank you for your continued confidence as an investor.

Joseph W. Luter, III
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
5
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A FAMILY OF COMPANIES
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North Carolina-based Brown’s of Carolina, Carroll’s Foods, and Murphy Farms
today find themselves more than just good neighbors. With the purchase of
Carroll’s and Murphy during the past year, all are now part of the Smithfield
Foods family of companies. 

“These hog farming acquisitions take a big bite out of the volatility common to
our business,” explains Smithfield Foods Chairman, President and CEO Joseph W.
Luter, III. “By owning roughly 50 percent of the hogs we process, our margins
will be far less dependent on price swings in the hog market. That means investors
can look forward to more stability in earnings. Control over this level of supply
also assures our processing operations of consistent, high-quality raw materials for
fresh pork and processed meat products.”

And what do these new family ties mean to Brown’s, Carroll’s and Murphy? All
still operate on a largely independent basis, a trait shared by virtually every
Smithfield Foods subsidiary. However, Smithfield Foods ownership has brought
some important improvements to these established operations.

“Joining Smithfield Foods has certainly altered one of the most important aspects
of the way we approach the hog raising business,” notes Jerry Godwin, president
of Murphy Farms, the largest of the three farming operations with 345,000 sows.
“We no longer have to worry as much about the price per pound we’re going to
get in the marketplace. Instead, we’re devoting our attention strictly to increasing
productivity and to the quality of our hogs.”

All three have made great strides in this area. For example, they have reduced the
environmental stress placed on their herds by monitoring temperature and
humidity more accurately, improving ventilation techniques, and reducing the
frequency with which their hogs have to be moved.

“We’ve also found that giving them more space during a critical growth phase is
helping to improve feed conversion ratios,” explains Greg Brown, president of
Brown’s of Carolina. Brown’s owns roughly 170,000 sows in North Carolina as
well as Colorado and Utah.

While retaining much of their autonomy, the three are realizing valuable synergies
by pooling resources. For starters, they are using their combined scale to purchase
feed, fuel and other materials at more favorable rates. 

“We’re aligning our transportation and feed manufacturing operations to make
them more efficient,” says Sonny Faison, president of Carroll’s Foods, a longtime
hog production partner that joined Smithfield Foods in May 1999. Carroll’s
currently owns 180,000 sows and is also one of the nation’s largest turkey
processors. “Our nutritionists have jointly developed a feed all three of us now
use. That makes it possible for us to pull feed from one of our sister-company
mills if it’s the closest one to our farm. Why haul feed from 75 miles away if you
can cut that drive in half or better?”

That spirit of cooperation also applies to the relationship between the three
raising operations and the rest of Smithfield Foods. For example, each farm can

ACQUISITIONS
MAKE HOG
RAISING A
FAMILY AFFAIR
12
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now deliver its hogs to the nearest Smithfield Foods slaughter facility so that
farms in the northern part of North Carolina can send their hogs to nearby
southern Virginia rather than to the more distant Tar Heel plant in the southern
part of the state. Furthermore, the slaughter facilities and farms have made
alterations to the manufacturing process to improve the throughput of the farms.
Seemingly minor changes at the processing plants create sizable benefits to the
hog farms, further lowering raising costs.

Carroll’s, Brown’s and Murphy are all working more closely with Smithfield Foods’
National Pig Development (NPD) subsidiary to expand the use of NPD genetics
throughout Smithfield Foods’ breeding program. All three currently raise the
NPD hogs used in Smithfield Lean Generation Pork™.

“We have a huge international opportunity in genetics,” Godwin explains. “By
working more closely with our genetics subsidiary and processors, it will be easier
to raise a hog that precisely matches the specifications of pork sought by
international consumers. Take the pork that Smithfield Foods sells to Japan

through Sumitomo Corporation of America. The Japanese market has very
specific requirements when it comes to the marbling, color and shelf life of 
fresh pork. Smithfield Foods can extract a premium by capitalizing on that
opportunity, but it takes careful coordination between both ends of this business
to make it possible.”

Many countries outside the U.S. also insist on the traceability of the meat they
buy. They demand as much information as possible about its source, and
Smithfield Foods’ decision to vertically integrate a large percentage of its output
makes compliance much simpler.

All of the farming operations face similar challenges when it comes to waste
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disposal, and on this front they should benefit from the lead Smithfield Foods has
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COOPERATION
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taken in tackling environmental issues. The Company recently established an
environmental committee and has created a separate subsidiary, Smithfield
Technologies, Inc., whose sole mission is to deal with the ever-growing environ-
mental challenges facing all of agriculture and the hog industry in particular. This
new operation will work towards developing an economically feasible solution for
animal waste disposal as an alternative to the lagoon method currently in use. 

“Smithfield Foods must take a leadership position in this area, working with
government agencies, academia and others in the industry to protect the
environment and secure a long-term solution,” says Luter. “We have committed
up to $15 million to this project.”

Bacon lovers may think that their favorite product can’t be improved upon any
further, but don’t try telling that to Gwaltney of Smithfield President Tim Seely.
During the third quarter, this Smithfield Foods subsidiary launched a brown sugar
version of its popular “40% Less Fat” bacon that’s enjoying wide acceptance
among retailers.

“New products like this strengthen our position as one of the country’s top 
five brands of bacon and add value to the Gwaltney name among consumers,”
notes Seely. 

Virtually every Smithfield Foods processed meats producer has a similar story to
tell about new products they’ve brought to market during the past year or are
preparing to introduce.

“Patrick Cudahy continues to roll out its new Heat & Eat line of precooked
sausage links, sausage patties and meatballs,” says President Roger Kapella.
“We’ve also begun selling precooked bacon—which has proven so successful 
in foodservice—through retail channels. All of these items are really suited 
for today’s consumers who do not have a lot of time at their disposal to 
spend in the kitchen.”

In June 2000, the Milwaukee-based company unveiled its La Abuelita line 
of retail and deli products, which cater to the tastes of the growing U.S. 
Hispanic population. Items include salchichon (farmers sausage), chorizo seco,
mortadella and jamon cocido.

At Canada’s Schneider Corporation, new introductions included a premium line of
slow-cooked, whole-muscle products for the deli counter under the Heritage 1890
brand. The success of this product was recognized when it won the prestigious
Canadian Grand Prix Award for best new product of the year in the meat category.
Canada’s leading producer of hot dogs also introduced new flavor and line
extensions to its Juicy Jumbo and Lunchmate brands and rolled out Toss’ins
ready-to-eat meat cubes for salad and pizza toppings.

“Schneider is also Canada’s leading producer of value-added chicken and bakery
products for both the grocery shelf and the private label market,” notes President
Doug Dodds. “During the past year, we introduced family-sized versions of our
chicken pies, steak pies and quiches for the home meal replacement market. All
have proven popular because they meet the needs of time-starved consumers who
16

seek convenience and nutrition at mealtime.”
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On the foodservice front, Schneider’s research and development team has been
busy creating a number of new chicken and precooked products. The Company
routinely involves its customers in this process to ensure that new menu items
meet the latest consumer tastes. Because Schneider’s R&D team is Smithfield
Foods’ largest, it also heads up a committee that brings representatives from each
company together to discuss new product ideas. 

“Many of these product variations are subtle, but they help us differentiate
ourselves in the marketplace and increase sales volume,” adds Smithfield Packing
President Lewis Little, whose company recently introduced a ham-based smoked
sausage and precooked sausage patties for the freezer case.

Co-packing for sister companies is also driving the growth of Smithfield Foods’
processed meats volume, allowing each company to offer the widest variety of
products possible under its own brand. When North Side Foods, a major supplier
of precooked sausages for McDonald’s, had an opportunity this past year to supply
the “golden arches” with bacon, it was able to turn to Smithfield Packing for help.

“North Side doesn’t make bacon, but our sister company had the expertise 
and the capacity to produce it to McDonald’s specifications,” says North Side
Foods President Robbie Hofmann. “That allowed us to sell them some 
6 million pounds, strengthen our relationship, and add to the bottom line of two
Smithfield Foods companies.”

Adds John Morrell President Joe Sebring: “Although we often compete with 
one another, we produce products for each other when it’s to our mutual
advantage. Whenever we need a product that we don’t make, our first choice 
for a supplier is a sister company.”

For example, Patrick Cudahy supplies John Morrell—as well as Smithfield Packing
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and Gwaltney of Smithfield—with precooked bacon. Sister companies also turn to
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Patrick Cudahy for such specialty items as dry sausage, mortadella and capicolla.
For its part, Gwaltney produces hot dogs, smoked sausages and assorted luncheon
meat items for Smithfield Packing.

Gwaltney’s Seely sums up these relationships best: “Each of us has plants geared
toward making a specific range of products. By selling them to one another, each
of us can offer a full line of processed meats, keep our existing plants running at or
near capacity, and avoid unnecessary expansion costs. Everybody benefits.”

When it comes to opportunities for growth, Smithfield Foods knows the value 
of looking beyond the United States. Over the past two years, Smithfield has
acquired companies in Canada, Poland and France and entered into a joint venture
in Mexico, all of which have given the company strong market positions and high-
quality manufacturing facilities in areas of the world where pork consumption is
high.

In Canada, a controlling interest in Schneider Corporation has made Smithfield
Foods that country’s second-largest pork processor and the market leader in hot
dogs, luncheon meats, frozen entrées and premium hams. Schneider is also the
largest supplier of foodservice processed meats and poultry products in Canada. 

Schneider’s sales grew by nearly 10 percent over the past 12 months, thanks to
steadily expanding market shares in existing businesses and its own aggressive
acquisition strategy. Schneider recently acquired a 32 percent interest in
Saskatchewan-based Mitchell’s Gourmet Foods, which will grow to a majority
stake in fiscal 2001. Mitchell’s extends Schneider’s value-added offerings in 
fresh and processed pork to consumers and increases its participation in the
growing private label sector. 

“In March, we also concluded our acquisition of Ontario’s Gallant Foods Inc., a

ER
further processing poultry company,” adds Schneider President Doug Dodds.
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“Gallant will provide us with much needed capacity to continue the growth of our
value-added poultry business.”

Smithfield’s 85 percent stake in Warsaw-based Animex S.A., best known in the
United States for premium Krakus canned ham, has given the company a
significant share of the Polish market for fresh and processed meats. That number
will likely grow substantially as the government continues to close Poland’s large
number of illegal processing plants, a requirement for entry into the European
Union. EU membership, which could come as early as 2003, has an even greater
strategic significance for Smithfield. Its Animex investment is positioning the
company to take advantage of the opportunity for fresh and processed pork in the
lucrative Western European market. 

“The EU countries offer Smithfield Foods a tremendous opportunity for growth,
and we’ve chosen Poland as our base for supplying them for a number of reasons,”
says Richard J.M. Poulson, chairman of the Animex Supervisory Board. “It is the
grain belt of Europe, with a plentiful and inexpensive supply, labor costs are low,
and Polish farmers have a great work ethic.”

Smithfield’s low cost basis in Poland will allow the company to compete favorably
on price in a Europe increasingly dominated by a handful of large and powerful
hypermarket chains. For the present, Smithfield has concentrated on realigning
the operations of seven Animex plants to make them far more efficient and 
has closed two others deemed unfit for modernization. The Company has imple-
mented a central procurement system for its livestock purchases as well.
Employment levels have been reduced by 25 percent over the past 12 months, 
and uniform cost accounting procedures are being implemented in all plants.

Plans are also underway to leverage the Krakus brand and its U.S. reputation for
quality through a new sales organization: Krakus Foods International.

“Krakus Ham is the finest imported ham in the United States, but its U.S.
importers never took the time to recognize the variety of products to which the
Krakus name could be applied,” explains Patrick Cudahy President Roger Kapella,
who now heads Krakus Foods International. “A number of new Krakus products
are in the works, some of which will be manufactured in Poland with others made
by Smithfield Foods companies in the United States.”

Société Bretonne de Salaisons (SBS), acquired in September 1998 by Smithfield
France, is a successful producer of private-label processed meats for the French
grocery industry and also sells products in Spain, Belgium, Italy and the Czech
Republic. Its processing facility near Brest is among the most sophisticated of all
Smithfield Foods facilities. By acquiring competitor Société Financière de 
Gestion et de Participation (SFGP) in August, Smithfield France doubled its
market share, improved operational efficiencies and rang up annual sales of 
$160 million. Most notably, SFGP has strengthened Smithfield France’s presence
in the French ham market. 

Smithfield Foods’ interest in Agroindustrial del Noroeste, a hog raising and pork
processing joint venture in Mexico, will allow the company to expand its North
American hog farming operations and provides valuable sales opportunities in
Mexico, the United States and Asia.

“The joint venture currently has 13,000 sows, which we hope to expand to 30,000
21
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development for Smithfield Foods. “This growth will allow us to further integrate
our farming and processing operations, which is consistent with our U.S. strategy.”

Based in Sonora, one of only four Mexican states with USDA approval to export
pork into the United States, the joint venture can look to the north for sales
opportunities. In fact, its processing plant is closer to the Southwestern U.S. than
any other Smithfield Foods facility and is gearing up to export burritos and
portion-controlled servings of pork into U.S. retail and foodservice markets.

“Many of the Agroindustrial products are highly specialized and could not be
manufactured cost-effectively in the United States,” says Baxter. “That represents
a significant advantage. At the same time, the joint venture’s distribution centers
are well-situated to facilitate the export of Smithfield Foods products from the
United States into Mexico.”

Ironically, roughly half of the joint venture’s output ends up on dinner tables far
from either country. Japan is its largest customer, buying some 24 million pounds
of boneless pork annually. A larger base of hogs and planned production expansion
will make it possible to increase sales there and to expand into Korea as well.

What’s in a brand? Well, if its name is Smithfield Lean Generation Pork™, it
means annual sales exceeding 90 million pounds only five years after Smithfield
Packing introduced this branded fresh pork. Made from Smithfield Foods’ 
NPD hogs, the leanest in large-scale commercial production in the United 
States, Lean Generation has added tremendous value to the Smithfield name in
the marketplace. 

“Lean Generation is one of our greatest points of differentiation, even against
other pork from lean hogs,” explains Smithfield Packing President Lewis Little.
“And every pound of pork that we can put into Lean Generation or one of our
other fresh pork brands, such as our moisture-enhanced Smithfield Premium
Tender ’n Easy, gives us more recognition among retailers and consumers. That,
in turn, is making it easier to sell bacon, sausage and other processed meats
through our distribution channels.”

The success of Smithfield Foods’ branded fresh pork products—sold under the
John Morrell & Co. and Gwaltney of Smithfield names as well—has given the
Company a leg up in the race to provide Wal-Mart and other large retailers with
“case-ready” pork. Wal-Mart has begun converting its in-store meat-cutting
operations to case-ready, opting to buy products that are already packaged and
priced for their customers. 

Smithfield Packing sold 23 million pounds of case-ready fresh pork in fiscal 2000
and will deliver case-ready products to five of Wal-Mart’s 14 distribution centers
nationwide. John Morrell & Co. has built case-ready facilities equipped to produce
approximately 50 million pounds of case-ready product in fiscal 2001.

“Our goal for fiscal 2001 is to sell 10 percent of our Morrell pork and moisture-
enhanced Tender N Juicy brands as case-ready,” notes John Morrell & Co.
President Joe Sebring. “We and our sister companies have the technology, capacity
and expertise to meet the expected increase in demand.”

In fact, Smithfield Packing and John Morrell anticipate a threefold increase in
24

case-ready sales in fiscal 2001, which should push their combined case-ready
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volume above 75 million pounds. Smithfield Foods has prepared by opening 
four new case-ready facilities during the past year—one in the North, two in 
the South and another in the Midwest. One more will likely be added in the 
recently acquired Dubuque, Iowa plant. These new facilities and previously
existing case-ready operations give Smithfield Foods at least six separate 
case-ready plants around the country, and the Company will continue to add 
more as demand warrants.

“Clearly, stores adopting the case-ready model want brands that have high
consumer recognition, which gives our companies an advantage,” notes Little.
“Since we’ve been gearing up for case-ready for quite some time, our facilities 
are well-equipped to handle the demand. In fact, our Virginia facility recently
brought lid-stock packaging on-line, which is more attractive than the traditional
overwrap package and dramatically increases shelf life. The lid-stock package 
has proven very popular in the United Kingdom, where case-ready has been 
the norm for years.” 

Retailers have contemplated case-ready pork for a decade but were concerned that
consumers would balk at buying a pork loin that wasn’t cut on-site. So what has
finally made it ready for prime time? The belief that retailers can put their meat-
cutting space to more profitable use has played a role, but food safety concern has
probably been the single greatest factor in case-ready pork’s ascendance. 

Says Little: “With case-ready, retailers don’t have to go to the expense of hiring
trained meat cutters and dealing with the problems that can occur when beef, pork
and chicken are prepared in close proximity to one another. Our facilities just cut
pork, and we have USDA inspectors on the premises to ensure safety and the
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

GENERAL This discussion of management’s views on the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements
and the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Smithfield Foods, Inc. (the ‘‘Company’’) is comprised of a Meat Processing Group
(‘‘MPG’’) and a Hog Production Group (‘‘HPG’’). The MPG consists primarily of six
wholly owned domestic pork processing subsidiaries and four international pork processing
entities. The HPG consists primarily of three hog production operations located in the
United States and certain joint venture investments outside the United States.

ACQUISITIONS Several acquisitions affect the comparability of the results of operations for fiscal year 2000,
1999 and 1998 including the following:

In January of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Murphy Farms, Inc.
(‘‘MFI’’) and its affiliated companies for 11.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock
(subject to post-closing adjustments) and the assumption of approximately $203.0 million
in debt, plus other liabilities. MFI is a hog producer that has approximately 345,000 sows
which produce approximately 6.0 million market hogs annually. MFI had sales of $453.9
million in the fiscal year ended October 1999. A significant portion of these sales were to
the Company’s MPG.

In May of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Carroll’s Foods, Inc.
(‘‘CFI’’) and its affiliated companies and partnership interests for 4.3 million shares
of the Company’s common stock and the assumption of approximately $231.0 million in
debt, plus other liabilities. CFI’s U.S. hog production operation includes approximately
180,000 sows which produce approximately 2.9 million market hogs annually. The
acquisition included 100% of the capital stock of CFI, CFI’s 50% interest in Smithfield-
Carroll’s, CFI’s 16% interest in Circle Four, CFI’s 50% interest in Tar Heel Turkey Hatchery,
100% of CFI’s turkey grow-out operations, CFI’s 49% interest in Carolina Turkeys and
certain hog production interests in Brazil and Mexico. CFI had sales of $348.0 million
in calendar year 1998. A significant portion of these sales were to the Company’s MPG.

In August of fiscal 2000, the Company acquired the capital stock of Société Financière

de Gestion et de Participation S.A. (‘‘SFGP’’), a private-label processed meats manufacturer
in France. SFGP had sales of approximately $100.0 million in calendar year 1998.

In November of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired 63% of the total equity of Schneider
Corporation (‘‘Schneider’’), in exchange for approximately 2.5 million Exchangeable
Shares of Smithfield Canada Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Schneider
produces and markets fresh pork and a full line of processed meats and is the second
largest meat processing company in Canada. Schneider had sales in its fiscal year ended
October 1998 of $548.1 million.

In April of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired a 67% interest in Animex S.A. (‘‘Animex’’),
a major meat and poultry processing company in Poland. During fiscal 2000, the Company
increased its ownership in Animex to 85% of total equity. Animex had calendar year 1998
sales of approximately $400.0 million.

In September of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of Société
Bretonne de Salaisons (‘‘SBS’’), the largest private-labelmanufacturer of ham, pork
shoulder and bacon products in France. SBS had calendar year 1998 sales of approximately
$100.0 million.
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In June of fiscal 1999, the Company increased its ownership in the Circle Four hog
production operation from 37% to 84%, requiring the Company to consolidate the accounts
of Circle Four and to discontinue using the equity method of accounting. Prior to fiscal
1999, Circle Four was accounted for using the equity method of accounting. As a result of the
acquisition of CFI inMay of fiscal 2000, Circle Four became a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company.

In October of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the assets and business of
North Side Foods Corp. (‘‘North Side’’), a major domestic supplier of precooked sausage
toMcDonald’s Corporation.North Side had calendar year 1998 sales of approximately
$58.0 million.

Each of these acquisitions was accounted for using the purchasemethod of accounting
and, accordingly, the accompanying financial statements include the financial position
and results of operations from the dates of acquisition.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS Fiscal 2000 and 1999 included 52 weeks of operations compared to fiscal 1998, which
included 53 weeks of operations. Accordingly, sales and all expense categories in fiscal 2000
and 1999 reflect the impact of one less week of operations compared to fiscal 1998.

CONSOLIDATED

Fiscal 2000 Compared To Fiscal 1999
Sales in fiscal 2000 increased $1.4 billion, or 36.4%, from fiscal 1999. The increase in sales

was primarily attributable to a full year of sales from businesses acquired in fiscal 1999 as
well as acquisitions in the current year and an increase in both average unit selling prices
and processedmeats volume in the base business. See the following sections for comments
on sales changes by business segment.

Gross profit in fiscal 2000 increased $154.5million, or 28.6%, primarily on the inclusion
of acquired businesses in the HPGwhere margins improved sharply due to higher live hog
prices which were partially offset by expenses related to the implementation of food safety
programs at Company facilities in theMPG and lost production due to the aftereffects
of Hurricane Floyd. Fiscal 2000margins were also favorably impacted by commodity
hedging gains in the HPG. Excluding acquisitions, gross profit in the base business, which
was more heavily weighted to theMPG, declined as a result of the same higher live hog
prices which reduced fresh pork and processedmeats margins.
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $95.0million, or 32.1%, primarily
on the inclusion of selling, general and administrative expenses of acquired businesses.
In the base business, costs increased primarily due to higher advertising and promotion
expenses to market branded fresh pork and processedmeats.

Depreciation expense increased $46.4 million, or 73.0% in fiscal 2000 compared to
fiscal 1999, primarily related to the inclusion of the depreciation expense of acquired
businesses and increased depreciation expense in the base business on processedmeats
expansion and information systems projects.

Interest expense increased $31.4 million, or 77.5%, in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999,
reflecting the inclusion of the interest expense of the acquired businesses, the cost of
borrowings to finance additional investments and higher interest rates.

The effective income tax rate for fiscal 2000 increased to 37.4% compared to 33.9%
in fiscal 1999, primarily on the inclusion of foreign earnings which are taxed at higher rates.
The Company had a valuation allowance of $5.3 million related to income tax assets as
of April 30, 2000 primarily related to losses in foreign jurisdictions for which no tax benefit
was recognized. AtMay 2, 1999, the Company had no valuation allowances for deferred
tax assets.
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Reflecting the factors previously discussed, net income decreased to $75.1 million, or
$1.52 per diluted share, in fiscal 2000 down from $94.9million, or $2.32 per diluted share,
in fiscal 1999. Earnings per diluted share was also effected by an increase in average shares
outstanding due to shares issued in connection with business acquisitions in fiscal 2000.

Fiscal 1999 Compared To Fiscal 1998
Sales in fiscal 1999 decreased $92.5million, or 2.4% from fiscal 1998. The decrease in

sales reflected a 12.4% decrease in average unit selling prices of meat products as the result
of significantly lower rawmaterial (live hog) costs passed through to customers in the form
of lower unit selling prices. This decrease was nearly offset by a 10.2% increase inMPG
sales tonnage due to the inclusion of the sales of the acquired businesses of Schneider, SBS
and North Side and increased volumes in the base business.

Gross profit increased $151.8million, or 39.1%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998.
The increase in gross profit was primarily due to substantially higher margins in theMPG.
Fresh pork margins improved substantially, reflecting the impact of the lower cost of
rawmaterials (live hogs) andmargins on increased sales tonnage of both fresh pork and
processedmeats. MPG gross profits were partially offset by substantial losses in the HPG
due to lower live hog prices.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $75.7million, or 34.5%, in fiscal
1999 compared to fiscal 1998. The increase was primarily due to the inclusion of selling,
general and administrative expenses of acquired businesses, higher selling, marketing and
product promotion costs associated with the intensive efforts to market branded fresh pork
and processedmeats and expenses associatedwith preparing the Company’s information
systems for the Year 2000.

Depreciation expense increased $21.2 million, or 50.2%, in fiscal 1999 compared to
fiscal 1998. This increase was primarily due to the inclusion of the depreciation expense
of acquired businesses.

Interest expense increased $8.6 million, or 27.1%, in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998.
This increase reflected the inclusion of the interest expense of the acquired businesses, the
cost of borrowings to finance the additional investment in Circle Four and the borrowings
to finance the acquisitions of SBS and North Side.

A nonrecurring charge of $12.6 million in fiscal 1998 reflected the imposition of civil
penalties against the Company by the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of
Virginia in a civil action brought by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
The effective income tax rate for fiscal 1999 was 33.9% compared to 29.5% in fiscal 1998,
excluding the nondeductible nonrecurring charge. This increase reflected higher profits
at higher marginal tax rates. The Company had no valuation allowance related to income
tax assets as ofMay 2, 1999 orMay 3, 1998.

Reflecting the factors previously discussed, net income increased to $94.9 million, or
$2.32 per diluted share, in fiscal 1999, up from net income of $66.0 million, or $1.66 per
diluted share in fiscal 1998, excluding the nonrecurring charge. Including the nonrecurring
charge, net incomewas $53.4 million, or $1.34 per diluted share, in fiscal 1998.

MEAT PROCESSING GROUP

Fiscal 2000 Compared To Fiscal 1999
MPG sales in fiscal 2000 increased $1.3 billion, or 33.6%, from fiscal 1999. The increase

in sales was primarily attributable to a full year of sales from businesses acquired in fiscal
1999 as well as acquisitions in the current year and an increase in both average unit selling
prices and processedmeats volume in the base business. For fiscal 2000, processedmeats
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and fresh pork volume increased 36.5% and 3.7%, respectively. In addition, unit selling
prices increased 14.0% due to higher live hog costs and a greater proportion of value-added
processedmeats in the sales mix. Excluding acquired businesses, processedmeats volume
increased 6.0% which was offset by a 6.2% decrease in fresh pork volume. Fresh pork volume
decreased as the Company reduced slaughter levels as a result of sharply lower fresh pork
margins compared with the prior year.

Operating profit in theMPGdecreased to $122.9million infiscal 2000 from$253.8million,
the result of sharply lowermargins on fresh pork partially offset by the incrementaloperating
profit generated in acquired businesses. In addition, increased spending in the base business
on the market expansion of fresh pork and processedmeats brands, the implementation
of food safety programs at Company facilities and lost production due to the aftereffects
of Hurricane Floyd also contributed to lower operating profit.

Fiscal 1999 Compared To Fiscal 1998
MPG sales in fiscal 1999 decreased $137.8million, or 3.6%, from fiscal 1998. The decrease

reflected a 12.4% decrease in unit sales prices as the result of sharply lower raw material
(live hog) costs passed through to customers. This decrease was partially offset by a 10.2%
increase in sales tonnage due to the inclusion of the sales of Schneider, SBS andNorth Side
and increased volumes at existing operations. The increase in sales tonnage reflected a
5.8% increase in fresh pork tonnage, a 17.2% increase in processedmeats tonnage and a
12.8% increase in the tonnage of other products. Fresh pork tonnage increased as the result
of the inclusion of the sales of Schneider and a full fiscal year of second shift operations
at JohnMorrell’s Sioux City, Iowa plant compared to less than a full year of second shift
operations in fiscal 1998. The increase in processedmeats tonnage resulted from the
inclusion of the sales of Schneider, SBS andNorth Side and increased tonnage at existing
operations despite a sharp drop in hot dog exports to Russia. Excluding acquired businesses,
processedmeats and fresh pork volumes increased 3.3% and 1.6%, respectively.

Operating profit in the MPG increased to $253.8million in fiscal 1999 from $144.1
in fiscal 1998. This increase resulted from sharply improvedmargins in fresh pork and the
impact of acquired businesses and increased volumes from the base business. These
increases were partially offset by increasedmarketing and distribution expenses incurred to

market branded fresh pork and processedmeat products and expenses related to preparing
the Company’s information systems for the Year 2000.

HOG PRODUCTION GROUP

Fiscal 2000 Compared To Fiscal 1999
HPG sales increased sharply in fiscal 2000 compared to fiscal 1999 as a result of the

inclusion of the sales ofMFI and CFI and a 27.9% increase in live hog prices.With the
acquisition of CFI andMFI, hogs sold in fiscal 2000 increased to 5.5 million from 2.1 million
in fiscal 1999. Intersegment sales to the MPG are eliminated in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Operating profit in theHPG improved to $99.6million compared to a loss of $46.1million
in fiscal 1999 primarily as a result of a sharp increase in hog prices from their historic
lows in fiscal 1999 and the impact of selling significantlymore hogs at substantially better
margins in the current year. The operating profit was partially offset by the aftereffects
of Hurricane Floyd on the hog production operations on the East Coast of the U.S.
In addition, operating profit benefited from favorable commodity hedging contracts.
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Fiscal 1999 Compared To Fiscal 1998
HPG sales were relatively flat in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1998, as a 33.0% decrease

in the unit selling price of live hogs, due to an oversupply of hogs in the market, was offset
by a 48.5% increase in the number of hogs sold, primarily the result of including the sales of
Circle Four. Intersegment sales to theMPG are eliminated in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Operating losses in the HPG increased to $46.1million compared to $2.3 million in
fiscal 1998. The substantially higher loss was primarily the result of the lower unit selling
prices of hogs, which were at their lowest levels in five decades.

LIQUIDITY AND

CAPITAL RESOURCES

The pork processing industry is characterized by high sales tonnage and rapid turnover
of inventories and accounts receivable. Because of the rapid turnover rate, the Company
considers its inventories and accounts receivable highly liquid and readily convertible into
cash. Borrowings under the Company’s credit facilities are used to finance increases in
the levels of inventories and accounts receivable resulting from seasonal and other market-
related fluctuations in rawmaterial costs. The demand for seasonal borrowings usually
peaks in early November when inventories are at their highest levels, and borrowings are
repaid in January when accounts receivable are collected.

Cash provided by operations totaled $125.2million for fiscal 2000 compared to $123.4
million in fiscal 1999. The decrease in net income, year to year, was offset by an increase
in non-cash charges. Non-cash charges increased to $132.2million in the current year
from $89.3million in the prior year primarily as a result of the incremental depreciation
and amortization expense of acquired businesses.

In fiscal 2000, cash used in investing activities declined to $192.3million from $261.9
million in fiscal 1999 primarily as a result of a substantial decrease in cash acquisitions.
Capital expenditures totaled $100.4million related to processedmeats expansion and
plant improvement projects as well as additional hog production facilities at Circle Four.
In addition, during fiscal 2000, the Companymade investments in Agroindustrial del
Noroeste, a Mexicanmeat processing and hog production joint venture, and other long-
term investments. These capital expenditures and investments were funded with cash

provided by operations and borrowings under the Company’s long-term revolving credit
facility. As of April 30, 2000, the Company had definitive commitments of $53.6 million for
capital expenditures primarily to increase its processedmeats and value-added fresh pork
capacity at several of its processing plants.

Financing activities provided $87.0 million in fiscal 2000 as additional borrowings on
revolving credit facilities were used primarily for the repayment of notes payable and
the repurchase of approximately 3.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock. The
Company has been authorized to repurchase a total of 4.0 million shares. During fiscal 2000,
the Company repaid a substantial portion of the debt assumed in connection with the CFI
andMFI acquisitions with the placement of $225.0million 10-year senior secured notes and
an increase in the existing revolving credit facility borrowing capacity from $300.0million
to $650.0million. The $225.0million in senior secured notes include $75.0 million of variable
rate debt, $100.0million of notes at 7.89% and $50.0 million of notes at 8.44%. As of April 30,
2000, the Company has unused availability of $249.9million under the long-term credit
facility.Management believes that through internally generated funds and access to global
credit markets, funds are available to adequatelymeet the Company’s current and future
operating and capital needs.
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RISK MANAGEMENT Substantially all of the Company’s products are produced from commodity-based raw
materials, corn and soybeanmeal in the HPG and live hogs in theMPG. The cost of corn
and soybeanmeal (the principal feed ingredients for hogs) and live hogs are subject to wide
fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as weather conditions, economic conditions,
government regulation and other unforeseen circumstances. The Company utilizes futures
and option contracts for live hogs and grains to manage hog productionmargins when
management determines the conditions are appropriate for such hedges. The particular
hedgingmethods employed and the time periods for the contracts depend on a number of
factors, including the availability of adequate contracts for the respective periods for the
hedge. The Company attempts to closely match the commodity contract expiration periods
with the dates for product sale and delivery. The pricing of the Company’s fresh pork and
processedmeats is monitored and adjusted upward and downward in reaction to changes
in the cost of the underlying rawmaterials. The unpredictability of the rawmaterial costs
limits the Company’s ability to forward price fresh pork and processedmeat products
without the use of commodity contracts through a program of price-riskmanagement.
The Company uses price-riskmanagement to enhance its ability to engage in forward sales
contracts, where prices for future deliveries are fixed, by purchasing (or selling) commodity
contracts for future periods to reduce or eliminate the effect of fluctuations in future
rawmaterial costs on the profitability of the related sales.While this may tend to limit
the Company’s ability to participate in gains from favorable commodity price fluctuation,
it also tends to reduce the risk of loss from adverse changes in rawmaterial prices.
As of April 30, 2000, the Company had a deferred loss of $41.3 million compared to a
deferred gain on outstanding futures contracts of $8.9 million at May 2, 1999. As of April 30,
2000 andMay 2, 1999, the Company had open futures contracts with contract values of
$711.7million and $219.8million, respectively. As of April 30, 2000 andMay 2, 1999, the
Company had deposits with brokers for outstanding futures contracts of $45.1 million and
$15.6 million, respectively, included in prepaid expenses and other current assets. For open
futures contracts, the Company uses a sensitivity analysis technique to evaluate the effect

that changes in the market value of commodities will have on these commodity derivative
instruments. As of April 30, 2000, the potential change in fair value of open future contracts,
assuming a 10% change in the underlying commodity price, was $33.6million.

YEAR 2000 The Company completed its Year 2000 project as scheduled. As of April 30, 2000, the
Company’s production, computing and communication infrastructure systems have
operated without any significant Year 2000 related problems and appear to be Year 2000
compliant. The Company is not aware that any major customers or third-party suppliers
have experienced any significant Year 2000 related problems. The Company believes
all critical systems are Year 2000 compliant. However, there is no guarantee that the
Company has discovered all possible Year 2000 failure points including non-compliant
third parties whose systems and operation impact the Company and other uncertainties.
Total costs incurred since the inception of the project to ready the Company for the
Year 2000 is $35.8million of which $20.3 million was capitalized in accordancewith
generally accepted accounting principles.
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FORWARD-LOOKING

INFORMATION

This report may contain ‘‘forward-looking’’ information within the meaning of the federal
securities laws. The forward-looking information may include statements concerning
the Company’s outlook for the future, as well as other statements of beliefs, future plans
and strategies or anticipated events, and similar expressions concerning matters that
are not historical facts. Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in, or implied
by, the statements. These risks and uncertainties include availability and prices of live hogs,
raw materials and supplies, live hog production costs, product pricing, the competitive
environment and related market conditions, operating efficiencies, access to capital, the
cost of compliance with environmental and health standards, and actions of domestic and
foreign governments.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2000 1999 1998
OPERATIONS:

Sales $5,150,469 $3,774,989 $3,867,442
Gross profit 694,066 539,575 387,813
Selling, general and administrative expenses 390,634 295,610 219,861
Interest expense 71,944 40,521 31,891
Income from continuing operations before change in

accounting for income taxes 75,112 94,884 53,400

Income (loss) from discontinued operations — — —
Change in accounting from income taxes — — —
Net income 75,112 94,884 53,400

PER DILUTED COMMON SHARE:

Income from continuing operations before change in

accounting for income taxes $ 1.52 $ 2.32 $ 1.34

Income (loss) from discontinued operations — — —
Change in accounting for income taxes — — —
Net income 1.52 2.32 1.34
Book value 16.41 12.93 9.66
Weighted average shares outstanding 49,386 40,962 39,732

FINANCIAL POSITION:

Working capital $ 609,857 $ 215,865 $ 259,188
Total assets 3,129,613 1,771,614 1,083,645
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 1,187,770 594,241 407,272
36

Shareholders’ equity 902,909 542,246 361,010

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

Current ratio 1.98 1.46 2.03
Long-term debt to total capitalization 56.8% 52.3% 53.0%
Return on average shareholders’ equity2 10.4% 21.0% 16.0%
EBITDA3 $ 310,895 $ 252,525 $ 158,725

OTHER INFORMATION:

Capital expenditures4 $ 100,383 $ 95,447 $ 92,913
Depreciation expense 109,893 63,524 42,300
Common shareholders of record 1,514 1,230 1,143
Number of employees 36,479 33,000 19,700

1 Change in accounting principle
2 Computed using income from continuing operations before change in accounting principle
3 Computed using earnings from continuing operations before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization,

cumulative effects of changes in accounting for income taxes and a nonrecurring charge of $3.6 million for plant closing costs
incurred in the fiscal year ended May 1993

4 Excludes capital expenditures related to acquisitions
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1997 1996 1995 1994 1993 1992 1991
$3,870,611 $2,383,893 $1,526,518 $1,403,485 $1,113,712 $1,036,613 $1,071,791
323,795 181,781 146,275 117,616 77,241 88,169 94,807
191,225 103,095 61,723 50,738 42,924 40,065 35,214
26,211 20,942 14,054 11,605 6,183 3,903 7,739

44,937 19,786 31,915 19,319 3,271 21,824 28,658

— (3,900) (4,075) 383 (420) (189) —
— — — — 1,1381 — —

44,937 15,886 27,840 19,702 3,989 21,635 28,658
$ 1.17 $ .53 $ .92 $ .55 $ .09 $ .69 $ .99
— (.11) (.12) .01 (.01) (.01) —
— — — — .031 — —

1.17 .42 .80 .56 .11 .68 .99
8.25 7.16 5.91 4.71 4.16 3.77 2.64

38,558 35,000 33,923 33,697 33,395 31,626 28,804

$ 164,312 $ 88,026 $ 60,911 $ 81,529 $ 64,671 $ 26,672 $ 35,288
995,254 857,619 550,225 452,279 399,567 277,685 200,797
288,486 188,618 155,047 118,942 124,517 49,091 37,392
307,486 242,516 184,015 154,950 135,770 113,754 71,081
37

1.51 1.26 1.35 1.56 1.57 1.27 1.46
48.4% 41.8% 44.4% 41.9% 46.1% 30.1% 34.5%
15.9% 8.7% 18.4% 12.8% 2.3% 23.6% 49.2%

$ 132,945 $ 79,492 $ 86,619 $ 66,550 $ 34,797 $ 50,506 $ 62,957

$ 69,147 $ 74,888 $ 90,550 $ 25,241 $ 87,992 $ 74,793 $ 26,518
35,825 25,979 19,717 21,327 18,418 12,630 11,382
1,189 1,342 1,571 1,796 1,867 1,544 1,148

17,500 16,300 9,000 8,000 7,000 5,400 5,000
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS ENDED (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA) APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 49,882 $ 30,590
Accounts receivable less allowances of $4,899 and $2,656 390,037 252,332
Inventories 665,143 348,856
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 127,664 50,302

Total current assets 1,232,726 682,080

Property, plant and equipment:
Land 73,753 29,605
Buildings and improvements 666,428 404,002
Machinery and equipment 732,217 562,745
38

Breeding stock 100,576 27,394
Construction in progress 39,069 59,670

1,612,043 1,083,416
Less accumulated depreciation (398,469) (292,640)

Net property, plant and equipment 1,213,574 790,776

Other assets:
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $8,695 and $2,871 320,148 103,017
Investments in partnerships 102,551 80,182
Other 260,614 115,559

Total other assets 683,313 298,758

$3,129,613 $1,771,614

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable $ 64,924 $ 63,900
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations 48,505 25,828
Accounts payable 270,004 207,703
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 239,436 168,784

Total current liabilities 622,869 466,215

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations 1,187,770 594,241

Other noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred income taxes 274,329 31,523
Pension and postretirement benefits 78,656 62,276
Other 30,311 17,638

Total other noncurrent liabilities 383,296 111,437
39

Minority interests 32,769 57,475

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value, 1,000,000 authorized shares — —
Common stock, $.50 par value, 100,000,000 authorized shares;

54,705,386 and 41,847,359 issued 27,353 20,924
Additional paid-in capital 473,974 180,020
Retained earnings 415,266 340,154
Accumulated other comprehensive income (13,684) 1,148

Total shareholders’ equity 902,909 542,246

$3,129,613 $1,771,614
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA) 2000 1999 1998

Sales $5,150,469 $3,774,989 $3,867,442
Cost of sales 4,456,403 3,235,414 3,479,629
Gross profit 694,066 539,575 387,813

Selling, general and administrative expenses 390,634 295,610 219,861
40

Depreciation expense 109,893 63,524 42,300
Interest expense 71,944 40,521 31,891
Minority interests 1,608 (3,518) 199
Nonrecurring charge (See Note 11) — — 12,600

Income before income taxes 119,987 143,438 80,962

Income taxes 44,875 48,554 27,562

Net income $ 75,112 $ 94,884 $ 53,400

Net income per basic common share $ 1.54 $ 2.39 $ 1.42

Net income per diluted common share $ 1.52 $ 2.32 $ 1.34

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

FISCAL YEARS (IN THOUSANDS) 2000 1999 1998

Operating activities:
Net income $ 75,112 $ 94,884 $ 53,400

Depreciation and amortization 118,964 68,566 45,872
Deferred income taxes 13,227 20,737 14,752
(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (2,591) (138) 216
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect

of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (7,192) 954 15,115
Inventories (35,976) (17,680) 11,672
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (44,501) (2,225) (10,550)
Other assets 2,153 (55,563) (7,746)
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities 6,022 13,849 (25,194)

Net cash provided by operating activities 125,218 123,384 97,537

Investing activities:
Capital expenditures (100,383) (95,447) (92,913)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (34,596) (151,223) (7,810)
Investments in partnerships and other assets (63,289) (16,206) (5,357)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 6,018 991 1,153

Net cash used in investing activities (192,250) (261,885) (104,927)

Financing activities:
Net (repayments) borrowings on notes payable (249,393) 24,182 (75,000)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 269,041 22,948 450,050
Net borrowings on long-term credit facility 324,000 71,000 —
Principal payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations (187,632) (21,754) (333,053)
41

Repurchase and retirement of common stock (73,145) — —
Exercise of common stock options 4,121 12,155 124

Net cash provided by financing activities 86,992 108,531 42,121

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 19,960 (29,970) 34,731
Effect of currency exchange rates on cash (668) 38 —
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 30,590 60,522 25,791
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 49,882 $ 30,590 $ 60,522

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid, net of amount capitalized $ 79,780 $ 37,696 $ 31,428

Income taxes paid $ 30,315 $ 15,306 $ 10,179

Common stock issued for acquisitions $ 369,407 $ 73,049 $ —

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(IN THOUSANDS)

COMMON STOCK

SHARES

PAR

VALUE

ADDITIONAL

PAID-IN

CAPITAL

RETAINED

EARNINGS

ACCUMU-

LATED

OTHER

COMPRE-

HENSIVE

INCOME

TREASURY

STOCK TOTAL

Balance, April 27, 1997 19,197 $ 9,598 $113,661 $191,870 $ — $(7,643) $307,486
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — 53,400 — — 53,400
Total comprehensive income 53,400

Two-for-one stock split 19,200 9,600 (9,600) — — — —
Exercise of stock options 14 8 116 — — — 124
Reclassification of treasury stock (874) (437) (7,206) — — 7,643 —
Balance, May 3, 1998 37,537 18,769 96,971 245,270 — — 361,010
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — 94,884 — — 94,884
Unrealized gain on securities — — — — 1,372 — 1,372
Foreign currency translation — — — — 2,960 — 2,960
Minimum pension liability — — — — (3,184) — (3,184)

Total comprehensive income 96,032
Common stock issued 2,986 1,493 71,556 — — — 73,049
42

Exercise of stock options 1,324 662 11,493 — — — 12,155
Balance, May 2, 1999 41,847 20,924 180,020 340,154 1,148 — 542,246
Comprehensive income:

Net income — — — 75,112 — — 75,112
Unrealized loss on securities — — — — (3,882) — (3,882)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (6,561) — (6,561)
Minimum pension liability — — — — (4,389) — (4,389)

Total comprehensive income 60,280
Common stock issued 15,604 7,802 361,605 — — — 369,407
Exercise of stock options 232 116 4,005 — — — 4,121
Repurchase and retirement of

common stock (2,978) (1,489) (71,656) — — — (73,145)
Balance, April 30, 2000 54,705 $27,353 $473,974 $415,266 $(13,684) $ — $902,909

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

(DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

NOTE1
SUMMARY OF

SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Business
Smithfield Foods, Inc. and subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’) operates as a hog producer

and a processor, manufacturer, marketer, seller and distributor of fresh pork and processed
meats. The Company’s principal slaughtering and further processing operations are
conducted through the Meat Processing Group (‘‘MPG’’) which consists primarily of
six wholly owned domestic pork processing subsidiaries and four international meat
processing entities. The Company’s hog production operations are conducted through
the Hog Production Group (‘‘HPG’’) which consists primarily of three hog production
operations located in the United States and certain joint venture investments outside
the United States.

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the

Company after elimination of all material intercompany balances and transactions.
Investments in partnerships are recorded using the equity method of accounting.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Fiscal 2000 and 1999 included 52 weeks of operations compared to fiscal 1998 which
included 53 weeks of operations.

Foreign Currency Translation
The financial statements of foreign operations, where the local currency is the

functional currency, are translated using exchange rates in effect at period end for assets
and liabilities and average exchange rates during the period for results of operations.
Related translation adjustments are reported as a component of other comprehensive
income in shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions
are included in earnings. All amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements
are in U.S. dollars.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months

or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents
approximates market value. As of April 30, 2000 and May 2, 1999, cash and cash equivalents
include $200 and $3,400, respectively, in short-term marketable securities.

Inventories
The Company’s inventories are valued at the lower of first-in, first-out cost or market.

Cost includes direct materials, labor and applicable manufacturing and production
overhead. Inventories consist of the following:

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Hogs on farms $323,639 $ 83,352
Fresh and processed meats 264,479 219,647
Manufacturing supplies 55,937 30,201
Other 21,088 15,656

$665,143 $348,856
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Financial Instruments
The Company uses commodity hedging instruments, including futures and options,

to reduce the risk of price fluctuations related to future rawmaterial requirements and
product sales. The terms of such instruments generally do not exceed twelve months
and depend on the commodity and other market factors. The Company attempts to closely
match the commodity contract expiration periods with the dates for product sale and
delivery. Gains and losses from hedging transactions are recognized when the related sales
and purchases are made.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over the estimated

useful lives of the assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over periods from
20 to 40 years. Machinery and equipment is depreciated over periods from two to 20 years.
Breeding stock is depreciated over two and one-half years. Repair andmaintenance
charges are expensed as incurred. Improvements that materially extend the life of the asset
are capitalized. Gains and losses from dispositions or retirements of property, plant and
equipment are recognized currently.
Interest on capital projects is capitalized during the construction period. Total interest

capitalizedwas $3,293 in fiscal 2000, $2,377 in fiscal 1999 and $2,530 in fiscal 1998. Repair
and maintenance expenses totaled $160,222, $120,833 and $106,481 in fiscal 2000, 1999 and
1998, respectively.

Other Assets
Goodwill is amortized over no more than 40 years. Deferred debt issuance costs are

amortized over the terms of the related loan agreements.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues from product sales are recorded upon shipment to customers.

Environmental Expenditures
Environmental expenditures that relate to current or future operations are expensed

or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by

past operations and do not contribute to current or future revenue generation are expensed.
Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and cleanups are probable and
the cost can be reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with
the Company’s commitment to a formal plan of action (See Note 11).

Self-Insurance Programs
The Company is self-insured for certain levels of general and vehicle liability, property,

workers’ compensation and health care coverage. The cost of these self-insurance
programs is accrued based upon estimated settlements for known and anticipated claims.
Any resulting adjustments to previously recorded reserves are reflected in current
operating results.

Net Income Per Share
The Company presents a dual computation of net income per share (See Note 12).

The basic computation is based on weighted average common shares outstanding during
the period. The diluted computation reflects the potentially dilutive effect of common
stock equivalents such as stock options during the period.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities’’ (‘‘SFAS 133’’). SFAS 133 established accounting and reporting
standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities and requires, among other
things, that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the balance
sheet and measure those instruments at fair value. SFAS 133, as amended, is not required
to be adopted until fiscal 2002. The Company has not completed the analysis required
to estimate the impact of the standard.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been restated to conform to fiscal 2000 presentations.

NOTE 2
RISK MANAGEMENT

Substantially all of the Company’s products are produced from commodity-based raw
materials, corn and soybean meal in the HPG and live hogs in the MPG. The cost of corn
and soybean meal (the principal feed ingredients for hogs) and live hogs are subject to wide
fluctuations due to unpredictable factors such as weather conditions, economic conditions,
government regulation and other unforeseen circumstances. The Company utilizes futures
and option contracts for live hogs and grains to manage hog production margins when
management determines the conditions are appropriate for such hedges. The particular
hedging methods employed and the time periods for the contracts depend on a number of
factors, including the availability of adequate contracts for the respective periods for the
hedge. The Company attempts to closely match the commodity contract expiration periods
with the dates for product sale and delivery. The pricing of the Company’s fresh pork and
processed meats is monitored and adjusted upward and downward in reaction to changes
in the cost of the underlying raw materials. The unpredictability of the raw material costs
limits the Company’s ability to forward price fresh pork and processed meat products
without the use of commodity contracts through a program of price-risk management.
The Company uses price-risk management to enhance its ability to engage in forward sales
contracts, where prices for future deliveries are fixed, by purchasing (or selling) commodity
contracts for future periods to reduce or eliminate the effect of fluctuations in future raw
material costs on the profitability of the related sales. While this may tend to limit the
Company’s ability to participate in gains from favorable commodity price fluctuation,
it also tends to reduce the risk of loss from adverse changes in raw material prices. As of
April 30, 2000, the Company had a deferred loss of $41,309 compared to a deferred gain on
outstanding futures contracts of $8,895 at May 2, 1999. As of April 30, 2000 and May 2, 1999,

the Company had open futures contracts with contract values of $711,654 and $219,748,
respectively. As of April 30, 2000 and May 2, 1999, the Company had deposits with brokers
for outstanding futures contracts of $45,131 and $15,591, respectively, included in prepaid
expenses and other current assets. For open futures contracts, the Company uses a
sensitivity analysis technique to evaluate the effect that changes in the market value of
commodities will have on these commodity derivative instruments. As of April 30, 2000,
the potential change in fair value of open future contracts, assuming a 10% change in
the underlying commodity price, was $33,624.

NOTE 3
ACQUISITIONS

In January of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Murphy Farms, Inc.
(‘‘MFI’’) and its affiliated companies for 11.1 million shares of the Company’s common
stock (subject to post-closing adjustments) and the assumption of approximately $203,000
in debt, plus other liabilities. MFI is a hog producer that has approximately 345,000 sows
which produce approximately 6.0 million market hogs annually. The balance of the purchase
price in excess of the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date
of acquisition was recorded as an intangible asset totaling $147,006.
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InMay of fiscal 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Carroll’s Foods, Inc.
(‘‘CFI’’) and its affiliated companies and partnership interests for 4.3 million shares
of the Company’s common stock and the assumption of approximately $231,000 in debt,
plus other liabilities. CFI’s U.S. hog production operation includes approximately
180 thousand sows which produce approximately 2.9 millionmarket hogs annually. The
acquisition included 100% of the capital stock of CFI, CFI’s 50% interest in Smithfield-
Carroll’s, CFI’s 16% interest in Circle Four, CFI’s 50% interest in Tar Heel Turkey Hatchery,
100% of CFI’s turkey grow-out operations, CFI’s 49% interest in Carolina Turkeys, and
certain hog production interests in Brazil andMexico. The balance of the purchase price
in excess of the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the date
of acquisitionwas recorded as an intangible asset totaling $45,100.

Had the acquisitions of CFI andMFI occurred at the beginning of fiscal 1999, sales,
net income and net income per diluted share would have been $5,329,074, $77,633 and $1.31,
respectively, for fiscal 2000 and $3,892,769, $66,080 and $1.46, respectively, for fiscal 1999.

In August of fiscal 2000, the Company acquired the capital stock of Société Financière
de Gestion et de Participation S.A. (‘‘SFGP’’) a private-label processedmeats manufacturer
in France. SFGP had sales of approximately $100,000 in calendar year 1998.

In November of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired 63% of the total equity of Schneider
Corporation (‘‘Schneider’’), in exchange for approximately 2.5 million Exchangeable
Shares of Smithfield Canada Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Schneider
produces and markets fresh pork and a full line of processedmeats and is the second largest
meat processing company in Canada. The balance of the purchase price in excess of the
fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisitionwas recorded
as an intangible asset totaling $36,900. Had the acquisition of Schneider occurred at the
beginning of fiscal 1998, sales, net income and net income per diluted share would have been
$4,053,798, $98,146 and $2.33, respectively, for fiscal 1999 and $4,405,239, $59,447 and $1.40,
respectively, for fiscal 1998.

In April of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired a 67% interest in Animex S.A. (‘‘Animex’’),
a major meat and poultry processing company in Poland. During fiscal 2000, the Company
increased its ownership in Animex to 85% of total equity. The balance of the purchase price
in excess of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
was recorded as an intangible asset totaling $55,100. Had the acquisition of Animex occurred
at the beginning of fiscal 1999, sales would have been approximately $4,175,000, and it would
not have had a material effect on net income or net income per diluted share.

In September of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the capital stock of Société

Bretonne de Salaisons (‘‘SBS’’), the largest private-labelmanufacturer of ham, pork shoulder
and bacon products in France. SBS had calendar year 1998 sales of approximately $100,000.

In June of fiscal 1999, the Company increased its ownership in the Circle Four hog
production operation from 37% to 84%, requiring the Company to consolidate the accounts
of Circle Four and to discontinue using the equity method of accounting. Prior to fiscal 1999,
the investment in Circle Four was accounted for using the equity method of accounting. As
a result of the acquisition of CFI inMay of fiscal 2000, Circle Four became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company.

In October of fiscal 1999, the Company acquired all of the assets and business of
North Side Foods Corp. (‘‘North Side’’), a major domestic supplier of precooked sausage to
McDonald’s Corporation.North Side had calendar year 1998 sales of approximately $58,000.

Each of these acquisitions was accounted for using the purchasemethod of accounting
and, accordingly, the accompanying financial statements include the financial position
and results of operations from the dates of acquisition.Had the acquisitions of SFGP,
North Side and SBS occurred at the beginning of April 30, 2000 andMay 2, 1999, it would
not have had a material effect on sales, net income or net income per diluted share for the
year ended April 30, 2000 andMay 2, 1999.
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NOTE4
DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following:

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Long-term credit facility, expiring July 2002 $ 395,000 $ 71,000
7.625% senior subordinated notes, due February 2008 186,500 200,000
8.52% senior notes, due August 2006 100,000 100,000
7.89% senior note, payable through October 2009 95,000 —
8.25% note, payable through March 2006 75,000 —
Variable rate note, payable through October 2009 72,500 —
8.44% note, payable through October 2009 50,000 —
8.34% senior notes, due August 2003 40,000 40,000
Variable rate note, due March 2002 25,000 —
Euribor 3 mos. � .50% French franc notes, payable

through April 2004 16,676 19,355
8.41% senior notes, payable through April 2004 14,779 14,779
9.70% Canadian dollar notes, payable through

September 2010 12,228 13,114
6.70% note, payable October 2001 10,134 —
Miscellaneous with interest rates ranging from 3.63%

to 10.75% due June 2001 through November 2006 119,506 144,288
1,212,323 602,536

Less current portion (44,941) (24,102)
$1,167,382 $578,434

Scheduledmaturities of long-term debt are as follows:

FISCAL YEAR

2001 $ 44,941
2002 99,634
2003 447,904
2004 113,131
2005 45,866
Thereafter 460,847

$1,212,323

In fiscal 2000, the Company placed $225,000 ten-year senior secured notes. The $225,000
in senior secured notes include $75,000 of variable rate debt, $100,000 of notes at 7.89% and

$50,000 of notes at 8.44%. The net proceeds from the notes were used to repay a substantial
portion of debt assumed in connection with the CFI andMFI acquisitions. In connection
with theMFI acquisition, the Company assumed $100,000 of outstanding long-term debt
including $75,000 of notes at 8.25% and $25,000 of variable rate debt.

In fiscal 1998, the Company issued $200,000 in aggregate principal amount of 10-year
7.625% senior subordinated notes. The net proceeds from the sale of the notes were used
to repay indebtedness under the Company’s revolving credit facility with the balance
temporarily invested in short-termmarketable securities.

In fiscal 2000, the Company increased the revolving credit facility borrowing from
$300,000 to $650,000. The borrowings are prepayable and bear interest, at the Company’s
option, at various rates based onmargins over the federal funds rate or Eurodollar rate
and expires in July 2002.

Including certain facilities which were acquired in connection with business
acquisitions, the Company has aggregate credit facilities totaling $735,443. As of April 30,
2000, the Company had unused capacity under these credit facilities of $249,915. Included
in the aggregate credit facilities are $85,443 of short-term credit facilities with various
financial institutions assumed in connection with business acquisitions in fiscal 1999. These
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short-term credit facilities are classified as notes payable in the ConsolidatedBalance
Sheets. These facilities are generally at prevailingmarket rates. The Company pays
a commitment fee on the unused portion of the aggregate revolving credit facilities.

Average borrowings under credit facilities were $305,470 in fiscal 2000, $74,820 in fiscal
1999 and $149,723 in fiscal 1998 at average interest rates of approximately 7.5%, 6.3%, and
6.7%, respectively.Maximum borrowings were $458,922 in fiscal 2000, $152,510 in fiscal 1999
and $247,000 in fiscal 1998. Total outstanding borrowings were $457,200 and $134,900with
average interest rates of 7.2% and 7.1% as of April 30, 2000 andMay 2, 1999, respectively.

The senior subordinated notes are unsecured. Senior notes are secured by four of
the Company’smajor processing plants and certain hog farm facilities. The $650,000 credit
facility is secured by substantially all of the Company’s U.S. inventories and accounts
receivable.

The Company determines the fair value of public debt using quotedmarket prices and
values all other debt using discounted cash flow techniques at estimatedmarket prices
for similar issues. As of April 30, 2000, the fair value of long-term debt, based on the market
value of debt with similar maturities and covenants, was approximately $1,207,134.

The Company’s various debt agreements contain financial covenants that require the
maintenance of certain levels and ratios for working capital, net worth, current ratio, fixed
charges, capital expenditures and, among other restrictions, limit additional borrowings,
the acquisition, disposition and leasing of assets, and payments of dividends to shareholders.

NOTE5
INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense consists of the following:

2000 1999 1998

Current tax expense:
Federal $26,994 $20,445 $11,315
State 3,174 5,409 2,043
Foreign 1,480 1,963 —

31,648 27,817 13,358
Deferred tax expense (benefit):

Federal 9,500 19,924 15,684
State 1,073 (2,082) (1,480)
Foreign 2,654 2,895 —

13,227 20,737 14,204
$44,875 $48,554 $27,562
A reconciliation of taxes computed at the federal statutory rate to the provision for
income taxes is as follows:

2000 1999 1998

Federal income taxes at statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 1.7 2.5 1.0
Earnings in jurisdictions taxed at rates different

from the statutory U.S. federal rate 2.9 — —
Foreign sales corporation benefit (2.0) (1.4) (2.0)
Amortization of acquisition costs 1.5 0.7 0.5
Benefits of certain insurance contracts — (1.1) (3.3)
Nondeductible settlements — — 4.5
Other (1.7) (1.8) (1.7)

37.4% 33.9% 34.0%
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The tax effects of temporary differences consist of the following:

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses $ 16,998 $ 5,398
Tax credits, carryforwards and net operating losses 13,939 14,308
Employee benefits 2,222 17,748
Intangibles 2,210 3,146
Inventories 1,758 1,627
Alternative minimum tax credit 1,407 5,283
Other 572 —

$ 39,106 $47,510

Deferred tax liabilities:
Accounting method change $138,403 $ —
Property, plant and equipment 120,277 47,876
Investments in subsidiaries 39,560 3,293
Other — 7,313

$298,240 $58,482

As of April 30, 2000 andMay 2, 1999, the Company had $15,195 and $20,551, respectively,
of net current deferred tax assets included in prepaid expenses and other current assets.
The Company had a valuation allowance of $5,265 related to income tax assets as of
April 30, 2000 primarily related to losses in foreign jurisdictions for which no tax benefit
was recognized. AtMay 2, 1999, the Company had no valuation allowances for deferred
tax assets.

The tax credits, carryforwards and net operating losses expire from fiscal 2001 to 2020.
The alternativeminimum tax credits do not expire.

As of April 30, 2000, foreign subsidiary net earnings of $10,065 were considered
permanently reinvested in those businesses. Accordingly, federal income taxes have not
been provided for such earnings. It is not practicable to determine the amount of
unrecognized deferred tax liabilities associated with such earnings.

NOTE6
ACCRUED EXPENSES

AND OTHER

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following:

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Payroll and related benefits $ 68,611 $ 60,079
Self-insurance reserves 29,248 33,870
Grower fees 21,128 871
Interest 12,801 9,671

Pension and postretirement benefits 12,104 12,671
Other 95,544 51,622

$239,436 $168,784

NOTE7
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Reincorporation and Treasury Stock
In fiscal 1998, the Company’s shareholders approved the reincorporation of the Company

in Virginia fromDelaware. The purpose of the reincorporationwas to reduce annual
franchise taxes and does not affect the Company’s capitalization or the manner in which
it operates. Since Virginia law does not recognize treasury stock, the shares previously
classified as treasury stock reverted to unissued shares resulting in a reduction in common
stock and additional paid-in capital for the cost basis of the shares.

Stock Split
In fiscal 1998, the Company effected a two-for-one split of its common stock. Stock

option agreements provide for the issuance of additional shares for the stock split. All stock
options outstanding and per share amounts for all periods reflect the effect of this split.

49



Name /smithfield/4410       
 07/17/2000 08:56PM     Plate # 0 pg 50   # 8

Preferred Stock
The Company has 1,000,000 shares of $1.00 par value preferred stock authorized, none

of which are issued. The board of directors is authorized to issue preferred stock in series
and to fix, by resolution, the designation, dividend rate, redemption provisions, liquidation
rights, sinking fund provisions, conversion rights and voting rights of each series of
preferred stock.

Stock Options
Under the Company’s 1984 StockOption Plan (the ‘‘1984 Plan’’), officers and certain key

employees were granted incentive and nonstatutory stock options to purchase shares of
the Company’s common stock for periods not exceeding 10 years at prices that were not
less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Stock appreciation
rights which are exercisable upon a change in control of the Company are attached to the
options granted pursuant to the 1984 Plan. The 1984 Plan expired in fiscal 1999 with the
final exercise of options.

Under the Company’s 1992 Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘1992 Plan’’), management and
other key employeesmay be granted nonstatutory stock options to purchase shares of
the Company’s common stock exercisable five years after grant for periods not exceeding
10 years. The exercise price for options granted prior to August 31, 1994, was not less than
150% of the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. On August 31, 1994
the Company amended and restated the 1992 Plan, changing the exercise price of options
granted on or after that date to not less than the fair market value of the common stock
on the date of grant. The Company reserved 2,500,000 shares of common stock under the
1992 Plan.

Under the Company’s 1998 Stock Incentive Plan (the ‘‘1998 Plan’’), management and
other key employeesmay be granted nonstatutory stock options to purchase shares of
the Company’s common stock exercisable five years after grant for periods not exceeding
10 years. The Company reserved 1,500,000 shares under the 1998 Plan. In fiscal 1999, the
1992 Plan was merged with the 1998 Plan. As of April 30, 2000, there were 1,854,000 shares
available for grant under the 1998 Plan.

The following is a summary of transactions for the various stock option plans during
fiscal 1998, 1999 and 2000:

NUMBER OF

SHARES

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

EXERCISE

PRICE

Outstanding at April 27, 1997 3,069,000 $ 8.90

Granted 314,000 25.39
Exercised (17,000) 4.06

Outstanding at May 3, 1998 3,366,000 10.47
Granted 260,000 27.96
Exercised (1,323,500) 4.42
Cancelled (160,000) 15.56

Outstanding at May 2, 1999 2,142,500 15.95
Granted 55,000 23.99
Exercised (232,000) 11.53
Cancelled (115,000) 16.85

Outstanding at April 30, 2000 1,850,500 $16.69

As of April 30, 2000,May 2, 1999 andMay 3, 1998, the number of option shares
exercisable was 915,500, 1,127,500 and 1,260,000, respectively, at weighted average exercise
prices of $11.61, $11.53 and $4.06, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding as of
April 30, 2000:

EXERCISE

PRICE RANGE

OPTION

SHARES

OUTSTANDING

APRIL 30, 2000

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

REMAINING

CONTRACTUAL

LIFE

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

EXERCISE

PRICE

$10.72 to 11.75 955,500 3.6 $11.53
13.63 to 15.31 260,000 5.7 13.76
16.47 to 18.78 135,000 7.3 17.31
25.69 to 29.19 470,000 7.9 27.63
31.63 to 32.69 30,000 7.8 32.07

Stock options with an exercise price of $11.53 and $15.31 per share are the only options
exercisable as of April 30, 2000.
The Company does not recognize compensation costs for its stock option plans. Had the

Company determined compensation costs based on the fair value at the grant date for its
stock options granted subsequent to fiscal 1995, the Company’s net income and net income
per common share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts as follows:

2000 1999 1998

Net income, as reported $75,112 $94,884 $53,400
Pro forma net income 73,960 93,705 52,571
Net income per common share,
as reported:
Basic $ 1.54 $ 2.39 $ 1.42
Diluted 1.52 2.32 1.34

Pro forma net income
per common share:
Basic $ 1.52 $ 2.36 $ 1.40
Diluted 1.50 2.29 1.32

The weighted average fair values of option shares granted were $11.68, $13.40 and
$11.88 for fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. The fair value of each stock option share
granted is estimated at date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricingmodel with
the followingweighted average assumptions:

2000 1999 1998
Expected option life 7.0 years 7.0 years 6.0 years
Expected annual volatility 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Risk-free interest rate 5.9% 5.3% 6.3%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Preferred Share Purchase Rights
As part of the reincorporation, the Company adopted a preferred share purchase rights

plan (the ‘‘Rights Plan’’) and declared a dividend of one preferred share purchase right
(a ‘‘Right’’) on each outstanding share of common stock. Under the terms of the Rights Plan,
if the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction, each
Right will entitle its holder to purchase, at the Right’s then current exercise price, a number
of the acquiring company’s common shares having a market value of twice such price. In
addition, if a person or group acquires 20% (or other applicable percentage, as summarized
in the Rights Plan) or more of the outstanding common stock, each Right will entitle its
holder (other than such person or members of such group) to purchase, at the Right’s then
current exercise price, a number of shares of common stock having a market value of twice
such price.
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Each Right will entitle its holder to buy one one-thousandth of a Series A junior
participating preferred share (‘‘Preferred Share’’), par value $1.00 per share, at an exercise
price of $37.50 subject to adjustment. Each Preferred Share will entitle its holder to
1,000 votes and will have an aggregate dividend rate of 1,000 times the amount, if any,
paid to holders of common stock. The Rights will expire onMay 31, 2001, unless the date
is extended or unless the Rights are earlier redeemed or exchanged at the option of
the board of directors for $.0001 per Right. Generally, each share of common stock issued
afterMay 31, 1991 will have one Right attached.

NOTE8
PENSION AND OTHER

RETIREMENT PLANS

The Company sponsors several defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all
U.S. and Canadian employees. Pension plans covering salaried employees provide benefits
based on years of service and average salary levels. Pension plans covering hourly employees
provide benefits of stated amounts for each year of service. In general, the Company’s
funding policy for pension plans is to contribute annually the minimum amount required
under government regulations. The pension plan assets are invested primarily in equities,
debt securities, insurance contracts and moneymarket funds.

The Company provides health care and life insurance benefits for certain retired
employees. These plans are unfunded and generally pay covered costs reduced by retiree
premium contributions, co-payments and deductibles. The Company retains the right
to modify or eliminate these benefits.

The changes in the status of the Company’s pension and postretirement plans, the
related components of pension and postretirement expense and the amounts recognized
in the ConsolidatedBalance Sheets are as follows:

PENSION BENEFITS

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $442,752 $242,554 $ 30,294 $ 10,817

Service cost 10,779 6,626 596 397
Interest cost 30,251 22,007 2,006 1,416
Plan amendments — 15,681 (1,360) —
Employee contributions 1,240 — — —
Acquisitions 12,584 156,343 — 18,843
Benefits paid (26,929) (22,285) (1,869) (1,055)
Foreign currency changes (2,727) 10,676 (388) 1,138
Actuarial (gain) loss (42,760) 11,150 (2,646) (1,262)

Benefit obligation at end of year 425,190 442,752 26,633 30,294
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 396,725 203,392 — —
Actual return on plan assets 11,982 12,979 — —

Acquisitions 11,968 172,116 — —
Employer contributions 20,676 19,049 1,869 1,055
Foreign currency changes (3,149) 11,474 — —
Benefits paid (26,929) (22,285) (1,869) (1,055)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 411,273 396,725 — —
Reconciliation of accrued cost

Funded status (13,917) (46,027) (26,633) (30,294)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) or loss (7,333) 11,303 — (490)
Unrecognized prior service cost 14,236 15,728 — —

Accrued cost at end of year $ (7,014) $ (18,996) $(26,633) $(30,784)

Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position
consist of

Prepaid benefit cost $ 35,211 $ 19,546 $ — $ —
Accrued benefit liability (64,127) (44,163) (26,633) (30,784)
Intangible asset 9,508 410 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income 12,394 5,211 — —

Net amount recognized at end of year $ (7,014) $ (18,996) $(26,633) $(30,784)
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Components of net periodic costs include:

PENSION BENEFITS

2000 1999 1998

Service cost $ 10,779 $ 6,626 $ 4,104
Interest cost 30,251 22,007 16,730
Expected return on plan assets (35,468) (25,834) (15,309)
Net amortization 1,174 86 (1,137)

Net periodic cost $ 6,736 $ 2,885 $ 4,388

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

2000 1999 1998

Service cost $ 596 $ 397 $ 58
Interest cost 2,006 1,416 767
Net amortization (124) 95 69

Net periodic cost $2,478 $1,908 $894

The projected benefit obligations, accumulated benefit obligations and fair value of plan
assets for the pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets
were $184,039, $174,709 and $119,951, respectively, as of April 30, 2000 and $204,648, $193,010
and $139,027, respectively, as of May 2, 1999.

In determining the projected benefit obligation and the accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation in fiscal 2000 and 1999, the following assumptions were made:

PENSION BENEFITS

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

APRIL 30, 2000 MAY 2, 1999

Discount rate 7.7% 6.8% 7.5% 6.7%
Expected return on assets 8.7% 9.0% — —
Compensation increase 3.7% 3.9% — —

In determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation in fiscal 2000 and

1999, the assumed annual rate of increase in per capita cost of covered health care benefits
was 6.0% for fiscal 2000 and 5.5% thereafter for U.S. plans. For non-U.S. plans the assumed
annual rate of increase was 8.0% for fiscal 2000 and decreased by 0.5% each year until
leveling at 5.0%.

The assumed health care cost trend rate has an effect on the amounts reported.
A one-percentage point change in the assumed per capita cost of covered health care
benefits would have the following effect:

ONE

PERCENTAGE

POINT

INCREASE

ONE

PERCENTAGE

POINT

DECREASE

Effect on postretirement benefit obligations
as of April 30, 2000 $1,662 $(1,522)

Effect on annual benefit cost in fiscal 2000 $ 205 $ (183)
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NOTE9
LEASE OBLIGATIONS

AND COMMITMENTS

The Company leases transportation equipment under operating leases ranging from one
to 10 years with options to cancel at earlier dates. In addition, the Company has a long-term
maintenance agreement related to this equipment. Maintenance fees are based upon fixed
monthly charges for each vehicle, as well as the maintenance facility itself and contingent
fees based upon transportation equipment usage. The amounts shown as minimum rental
commitments do not include contingent maintenance fees.

The Company has agreements, expiring in fiscal 2004 and 2008, to use two cold storage
warehouses owned by a partnership, 50% of which is owned by the Company. The Company
has agreed to pay prevailing competitive rates for use of the facilities, subject to aggregate
guaranteed minimum annual fees of $3,600. In fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company paid
$6,299, $5,807 and $6,228, respectively, in fees for use of the facilities. As of April 30, 2000
and May 2, 1999, the Company had investments of $545 and $1,108, respectively, in the
partnership.

In fiscal 1998, the Company entered into a 15-year agreement, expiring in 2013, to use
a cold storage warehouse owned by a partnership, 50% of which is owned by the Company.
The Company leases the facility for an amount covering debt service costs plus a minimum
guaranteed annual fee. Debt service cost was $2,206 and $2,239 in fiscal 2000 and 1999,
respectively. The minimum guaranteed annual fee was $200 for both years. As of April 30,
2000 and May 2, 1999, the Company had investments of $444 and $1,028, respectively,
in the partnership.

Minimum rental commitments under all noncancelable operating leases and
maintenance agreements are as follows:

FISCAL YEAR

2001 $ 24,487
2002 26,246
2003 13,386
2004 10,175
2005 7,558
Thereafter 18,640

$100,492

Rental expense was $32,425 in fiscal 2000, $24,535 in fiscal 1999 and $24,839 in fiscal 1998.
Rental expense in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998 included $2,566, $2,787 and $3,231 of contingent
maintenance fees, respectively.

The Company has a sale and leaseback arrangement for certain hog production facilities.

The arrangement provides for an early termination at predetermined amounts in fiscal 2004.

Future minimum lease payments for assets under capital leases and the present value of
the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

FISCAL YEAR

2001 $ 5,639
2002 4,909
2003 4,423
2004 10,759
2005 2,044
Thereafter 2,435

30,209
Less amounts representing interest (6,257)
Present value of net minimum obligations 23,952
Less current portion (3,564)
Long-term capital lease obligations $20,388
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As of April 30, 2000, the Company had definitive commitments of $53,582 for capital
expenditures primarily to increase its processedmeats and value-added fresh pork capacity
at several of its processing plants.

NOTE10
RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS

The president of CFI before the acquisition (see Note 3) was a director of the Company in
fiscal 1999. Prior to the acquisition, the Company had a long-term agreement to purchase
hogs fromCFI at prices that, in the opinion of management, were equivalent to market.
Pursuant to this agreement with CFI, the Company purchased $161,965 and $246,371 of
hogs in fiscal 1999 and 1998, respectively.

A director of the Company is the chairman, president and chief executive officer
and a director of Prestage Farms, Inc. (‘‘PFI’’). The Company has a long-term agreement
to purchase hogs from PFI at prices that, in the opinion of management, are equivalent
to market. Pursuant to this agreement with PFI, the Company purchased $138,705, $106,365
and $168,829 of hogs in fiscal 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

In fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Company purchased rawmaterials totaling $5,997 and
$18,524, respectively, from a company which was 48%-owned by the chairman and chief
executive officer’s children in fiscal 1998. In the opinion of management, these purchases
were made at prices that were equivalent to market.
NOTE11
REGULATION AND

LITIGATION

Like other participants in the meat processing industry, the Company is subject to
various laws and regulations administered by federal, state and other government entities,
including the Environmental Protection Agency (‘‘EPA’’) and corresponding state agencies
as well as the United States Department of Agriculture, the United States Food andDrug
Administration and the United States Occupational Safety andHealth Administration.
Management believes that the Company presently is in compliancewith all such laws and
regulations in all material respects, and that continued compliancewith these standards
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of
operations. Furthermore, with respect to the suits discussed below, the Company believes
that their ultimate resolution will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
financial position or annual results of operations.

In UNITED STATESOF AMERICAV. SMITHFIELDFOODS, INC. ET AL. (Civil
Case No. 2:96:cv1204), the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia
imposed a $12,600 civil penalty on the Company and two of its subsidiaries for CleanWater
Act violations at the Company’s Smithfield, Virginia processing plants. The Company
recorded a nonrecurring charge of $12,600 during fiscal 1998 with respect to this penalty.
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In September 1999, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit affirmed the
District Court’s determination of liability but remanded the penalty determination to the
District Court with instructions to recalculate the civil penalty solely to correct a 4% error
made by the government’s expert. InMay 2000, the Company filed a certiorari petition
seeking review of the Fourth Circuit’s ruling by the United States SupremeCourt. There
can be no assurance as to the outcome of such appeal or any subsequent proceedings
regarding this matter.

In 1998, the Commonwealth of Virginia filed a civil suit against the Company in the
Circuit Court of the County of Isle ofWight, Virginia under Virginia’s water pollution
control laws. Virginia alleges that 22,517 wastewater discharge permit violations occurred
at the Company’s Smithfield, Virginia processing plants between 1986 and 1997.Most
of these alleged violations were also presented in the suit described above. In October 1999,
the Circuit Court dismissed the Commonwealth’s case against the Company, ruling under
the doctrine of res judicata that the subject matter of the case had already been finally
adjudicated against the Company in the suit. The Commonwealth has appealed the decision
of the Circuit Court to the SupremeCourt of Virginia. There can be no assurance as
to the outcome of the Commonwealth’s appeal or any subsequent proceedings regarding
this matter.

In June 2000, Neuse River Foundation, Inc., Richard J. Dove, d/b/a TheNeuse
Riverkeeper, D. BoultonBaldridge, d/b/aTheCapeFearRiverkeeper,NewRiverFoundation,
Inc., TomMattison, d/b/a The New Riverkeeper, and TheWater Keeper Alliance filed
a lawsuit in the General Court of Justice, Superior Court Division, of the State of North
Carolina against the Company, CFI, Brown’s of Carolina, Inc., MFI,Wendell H. Murphy, Sr.,
Wendell H. Murphy, Jr., and JosephW. Luter, III. The lawsuit alleges, among other things,
claims based on negligence, trespass, strict liability and unfair trade practices related to
the operation of swine waste disposal lagoons in North Carolina. The lawsuit apparently

seeks numerous and costly remedies, including injunctive relief to end all use of hog waste
disposal lagoons in North Carolina, unspecified but very large remediation costs and
unspecified additional damages. The Company believes that none of these claims has merit
and furthermore that the plaintiffs lack standing to bring such a suit. The Company intends
to contest this litigation vigorously.

In April 2000, the Company and one of its subsidiaries were named as defendants, along
with IBP, Inc., in a civil action filed in the United States District Court for theMiddle
District of Georgia. The case was filed by four named plaintiffs on behalf of a putative
nationwide class of hog producers who from 1994 to the present produced and sold finished
hogs to defendants on a spot, auction or cash market basis. The plaintiffs contend that the
defendants violated the Packers and Stockyards Act of 1921 (the ‘‘PSA’’) by reason of the
defendants’ engaging in various captive supply arrangements for the procurement of hogs
for slaughter. The Company believes that it has valid defenses to this action, that it has
acted properly in its dealings with hog producers and that it has not violated the PSA or any
other applicable law. The Company further believes that the action does not qualify for
certification as a class action. Accordingly, the Company will defend this action vigorously.
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NOTE12
NET INCOME PER SHARE

The computation for basic and diluted net income per share follows:

NET INCOME

WEIGHTED

AVERAGE

SHARES PER SHARE

FISCAL 2000

Net income per basic share $75,112 48,642 $1.54
Effect of dilutive stock options — 744 —
Net income per diluted share $75,112 49,386 $1.52

FISCAL 1999

Net income per basic share $94,884 39,628 $2.39
Effect of dilutive stock options — 1,334 —
Net income per diluted share $94,884 40,962 $2.32

FISCAL 1998

Net income per basic share $53,400 37,532 $1.42
Effect of dilutive stock options — 2,200 —
Net income per diluted share $53,400 39,732 $1.34

The summary below lists stock options outstanding at the end of each fiscal year which
were not included in the computation of net income per diluted share because the options’
exercise prices were greater than the averagemarket price of the common shares. These
options, which have varying expiration dates, were still outstanding as of April 30, 2000.

2000 1999 1998

Stock option shares excluded 500,000 495,000 65,000
Average option price per share $27.90 $28.10 $32.42
NOTE13
SEGMENTS

TheMPGmarkets its products to food retailers, distributors, wholesalers, restaurant and
hotel chains, other food processors andmanufacturers of pharmaceuticals and animal feeds
in both domestic and international markets. The HPG supplies rawmaterials (live hogs)
to the hog slaughtering operations of the Company and other independent third parties
on both an open-market sales basis and under long-term contracts. The following tables
present information about the results of operations and the assets of each of the Company’s
reportable segments for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2000,May 2, 1999 andMay 3, 1998.
The information contains certain allocations of expenses that the Company deems
reasonable and appropriate for the evaluation of results of operations. Certain prior year
amounts have been restated to conformwith fiscal 2000 presentations. Segment assets
do not include intersegment account balances as the Company feels that such an inclusion
would be misleading or not meaningful.Management believes all intersegment sales are
at prices which approximatemarket.
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MEAT

PROCESSING

HOG

PRODUCTION

GENERAL

CORPORATE TOTAL

FISCAL 2000

Sales $4,984,010 $ 735,328 $ — $5,719,338
Intersegment sales — (568,869) — (568,869)
Depreciation and amortization 73,133 41,288 4,543 118,964
Operating profit (loss) 122,880 99,633 (30,582) 191,931
Interest expense 37,941 26,103 7,900 71,944

Assets 1,613,395 1,319,097 197,121 3,129,613
Capital expenditures 91,925 7,262 1,196 100,383

FISCAL 1999

Sales $3,729,644 $ 155,796 $ — $3,885,440
Intersegment sales — (110,451) — (110,451)
Depreciation and amortization 48,814 16,541 3,211 68,566
Operating profit (loss) 253,839 (46,050) (23,830) 183,959
Interest expense 25,565 12,583 2,373 40,521

Assets 1,292,633 343,069 135,912 1,771,614
Capital expenditures 62,315 28,755 4,377 95,447

FISCAL 1998

Sales $3,867,442 $ 156,565 $ — $4,024,007
Intersegment sales — (156,565) — (156,565)
Depreciation and amortization 34,936 9,206 1,730 45,872
Operating profit (loss) 144,049 (2,292) (28,904) 112,853
Interest expense 22,854 7,390 1,647 31,891

Assets 787,274 178,078 118,293 1,083,645
Capital expenditures 70,329 13,252 9,332 92,913

The following table presents the Company’s sales and long-lived assets attributed to

operations in the U.S. and international geographic areas.

2000 1999 1998

Sales:
U.S. $4,016,749 $3,470,307 $3,867,442
Canada 632,897 244,121 —
Poland 344,984 — —
France 155,839 60,561 —

Total $5,150,469 $3,774,989 $3,867,442

Long-lived assets at end of year:
U.S. $1,545,204 $ 790,315 $ 572,522
Canada 187,092 169,038 —
Poland 90,809 78,201 —
France 73,782 51,980 —
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NOTE14
QUARTERLY RESULTS

FIRST SECOND THIRD FOURTH

2000

Sales $1,142,415 $1,230,129 $1,377,166 $1,400,759
OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited) Gross profit 147,496 172,640 176,183 197,747
Net income 6,930 22,214 17,488 28,480
Net income per common share

Basic $ .15 $ .49 $ .37 $ .52
Diluted .15 .48 .36 .51

1999

Sales $ 865,823 $ 874,378 $1,035,728 $ 999,060
Gross profit 72,178 115,132 201,204 151,061
Net (loss) income (5,325) 18,481 54,980 26,748
Net (loss) income per common

share
Basic $ (.14) $ .48 $ 1.35 $ .64
Diluted (.14) .47 1.31 .63
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT

The management of Smithfield Foods, Inc. and its subsidiaries has the responsibility for
preparing the accompanying financial statements and for their integrity and objectivity.
The statements were prepared in accordancewith generally accepted accounting principles
applied on a consistent basis. The financial statements include amounts that are based
on management’s best estimates and judgements.Management also prepared the other
information in this annual report and is responsible for its accuracy and consistency with
the financial statements.

The Company’s financial statements have been audited by Arthur Andersen LLP,
independent public accountants, elected by the shareholders.Management has made
available to Arthur Andersen LLP all of the Company’s financial records and related data as
well as the minutes of shareholders’ and directors’ meetings. Furthermore, management
believes that all representationsmade to Arthur Andersen LLP during its audits were valid
and appropriate.

Management has established and maintains a system of internal control that provides
reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements, the
protection of assets from unauthorized use or disposition and the prevention and detection
of fraudulent financial reporting. The system of internal control provides for appropriate
division of responsibilities among employees and is based upon policies and procedures
that are communicated to those with significant roles in the financial reporting process.
Management continually monitors the system of internal control for compliance and
updates this system as it deems necessary.

Management believes that, as of June 7, 2000, the Company’s system of internal control
is adequate to accomplish the objectives discussed herein.

JOSEPH W. LUTER, III

Chairman, President and
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Chief Executive Officer

C. LARRY POPE

Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

DANIEL G. STEVENS

Vice President and
Corporate Controller
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of Smithfield Foods, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Smithfield Foods, Inc.
(a Virginia corporation), and subsidiaries as of April 30, 2000, and May 2, 1999, and the
related consolidated statements of income, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each
of the three years in the period ended April 30, 2000. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
61

on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordancewith auditing standards generally accepted in

the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.We believe that our audits provide
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Smithfield Foods, Inc., and subsidiaries as of April 30,
2000, andMay 2, 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended April 30, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Richmond, Virginia
June 7, 2000
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

COMMON STOCK DATA The Common Stock of the Company has traded on The New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol ‘‘SFD’’ since September 28, 1999. Prior to that the Common Stock traded on
The NasdaqNationalMarket under the symbol ‘‘SFDS.’’ The following table shows the high
and low sales prices of the Common Stock of the Company for each quarter of fiscal 2000
and 1999.

2000

HIGH LOW

1999

HIGH LOW

First $34.06 $23.50 $31.00 $22.62
Second 31.88 21.38 27.00 14.69
Third 26.00 16.69 36.12 19.62
Fourth 22.75 14.88 30.00 20.00

Smithfield Foods, Inc. has not paid dividends on its common stock since its
incorporation.

CORPORATE

HEADQUARTERS

Smithfield Foods, Inc.
200 Commerce Street
Smithfield, VA 23430
757-365-3000

TRANSFER AGENT

AND REGISTRAR

Computershare Investor Services, LLC
2North LaSalle Street
Chicago, IL 60602
312-588-4700

INDEPENDENT PUBLIC

ACCOUNTANTS

Arthur Andersen LLP
1051 East Cary Street
Suite 800
Richmond, VA 23219
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ANNUAL MEETING The AnnualMeeting of Shareholders will be held on August 29, 2000 at 2 p.m.
at The JeffersonHotel, Franklin and Adams Streets, Richmond, Virginia.

FORM 10-K REPORT Copies of the Company’s Form 10-K Annual Report are available without charge,
upon written request to:
Corporate Secretary
Smithfield Foods, Inc.
200 Commerce Street
Smithfield, VA 23430

INVESTOR RELATIONS Inquiries about investor related information should be directed to:
Director of Investor Relations
Smithfield Foods, Inc.
499 Park Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, NY 10022
212-758-2100
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DIRECTORS
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC.
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ROBERT L. BURRUS, JR.

Partner in the law firm of McGuire,
Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP

CAROL T. CRAWFORD

Visiting Professor of Law at George
Mason University School of Law

RAY A. GOLDBERG

Moffett Professor of Agriculture and
Business, Harvard Business School

GEORGE E. HAMILTON, JR.

Retired; President and Chief Operating
Officer of The Smithfield Packing
Company, Incorporated

JOSEPH W. LUTER, III

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

WILLIAM H. PRESTAGE

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer of
Prestage Farms, Inc.

MELVIN O. WRIGHT

Advisor to PrimeCorp Finance,
a Paris merchant bank

From left to right: Ray A. Goldberg, Robert L. Burrus, Jr., George E. Hamilton, Jr.,
Joseph W. Luter, III, William H. Prestage, Carol T. Crawford, Melvin O. Wright
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MANAGEMENT
SMITHFIELD FOODS, INC.

MANAGEMENT BOARD JOSEPH W. LUTER, III

Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer, Smithfield Foods, Inc.

RONALD G. BROWN

President and Chief Operating Officer,
Browns of Carolina, Inc.

DOUGLAS A. DODDS

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Schneider Corporation

F. J. FAISON, JR.

President and Chief Operating Officer,
Carroll’s Foods, Inc.

JERRY H. GODWIN

President and Chief Operating Officer,
Murphy Farms, Inc.

ROBERT G. HOFMANN, II

President and Chief Executive Officer,
North Side Foods Corp.

ROGER R. KAPELLA

President and Chief Operating Officer,
Patrick Cudahy Incorporated

LEWIS R. LITTLE

President and Chief Operating Officer,
The Smithfield Packing Company,
Incorporated and Lykes Meat Group, Inc.

C. LARRY POPE

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer, Smithfield Foods, Inc.

RICHARD J.M. POULSON

Vice President, General Counsel
and Senior Advisor to the Chairman,
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

JEAN A. QUENTIN

President and Chief Operating Officer,
Smithfield France S.A.S.

JOSEPH B. SEBRING

President and Chief Operating Officer,
John Morrell & Co.

TIMOTHY A. SEELY

President and Chief Operating Officer,
Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd.

ROBERT F. URELL

Vice President, Engineering,
Smithfield Foods, Inc.

ROBERT ZULEWSKI

President, Animex S.A.

CORPORATE OFFICERS JOSEPH W. LUTER, III

Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

C. LARRY POPE

Vice President and

JEFFREY M. LUCKMAN

Vice President,
Livestock Procurement

WILLIAM E. PIERCE

Vice President,
64

Chief Financial Officer

RICHARD J.M. POULSON

Vice President, General Counsel and
Senior Advisor to the Chairman

ELAINE C. ABICHT

Vice President, Purchasing

WILLIAM J. ARBUCKLE

Vice President, Logistics

RAOUL J. BAXTER

Vice President,
Corporate Development

BART ELLIS

Vice President,
Operations Analysis

Information Technology

DANIEL G. STEVENS

Vice President and
Corporate Controller

DHAMU THAMODARAN

Vice President,
Price-Risk Management

ROBERT F. URELL

Vice President, Engineering

MICHAEL H. COLE

Secretary and
Associate General Counsel

JEFFREY A. DEEL

Assistant Corporate Controller
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